Ehrlich 0. a. 12-5-89

v.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES, an agency of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

WERK Structure

Deputy Stark

CASE NO. 74,046

_---

MID-FLORIDA GROWERS, INC. and HIMROD & HIMROD CITRUS NURSERY,

Respondent.

Appeal From the District Court of Appeal, Second District

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PARKER THOMSON FL. BAR NO. 018225 Thomson, Muraro, Bohrer and Razook, P.A. 2200 One Biscayne Tower Two South Biscayne Blvd. Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 350-7200

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mid-Florida Growers ("Mid-Florida") and Himrod & Himrod Citrus Nursery ("Himrod") (collectively, the "Nurseries"), filed this inverse condemnation suit on August 5, 1985. The Nurseries alleged that the destruction by burning of their citrus plants in October of 1984, pursuant to orders of the United States Department of Agriculture ("USDA") and the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (the "Department"), constituted a taking by the Department by inverse condemnation for which they were entitled to compensation.

The trial was bifurcated and the liability issue tried on September 24, 1986. The trial court found that though the citrus canker eradication program through which the Nurseries' plants were destroyed was a valid exercise of the police power, it nonetheless constituted a taking and the Nurseries were entitled to compensation. On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal and this Court affirmed the trial court's ruling. State, Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Mid-Florida Growers, Inc., 505 So.2d 592 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), <u>aff'd</u>, 521 \$0.2d 101 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, U.\$, 109 \$.Ct. 180, 102 L. Ed. 2d 149 (1988).

A jury trial to determine the compensation due the Nurseries was held March 22-24, 1989. The jury awarded Mid-Florida a total of \$845,179 (\$739,462 for the future value of the destroyed nursery stock and \$105,717 for "lost production"), and awarded Himrod a total of \$730,920 (\$602,568 for the future value of the destroyed nursery stock and \$128,352 for "lost production"). Previous payments under the joint USDA/Department compensation program were deducted and prejudgment interest from the date of destruction was added, resulting in judgments of \$966,177.95 and \$977,281., respectively.

On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal ("2d DCA") affirmed the judgment for the value of the destroyed nursery stock (modifyingthe prejudgment interest computation), but reversed the award for "lost production." State. Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Mid-Florida Growers, Inc. ______ So.2d ____, 14 F.L.W. 650 (Fla. 2d DCA, March 8, 1989). It remanded to the trial court and gave the Nurseries leave to amend their complaint to allege the "lost production" claim as a temporary taking under the United States Constitution. The 2d DCA certified two questions to this Court:

- I. WHETHER A CITRUS NURSERY OWNER WHOSE STOCK IS DESTROYED BY THE STATE DURING A QUARANTINE IS ENTITLED TO MEASURE ITS LOSS AS OF THE DATE OF THE REOPENED MARKET?
- II, WHETHER A CITRUS NURSERY OWNER IS ENTITLEDTODAMAGESFORLOSTPRODUCTION SUSTAINED AS AN INCIDENT TO THE DESTRUCTION OF HEALTHY CITRUS PLANTS ANDTHEDECONTAMINATIONOFTHEBUSINESS PREMISES?

This court has accepted jurisdiction.

- 2 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>The Citrus Nursery Growing Cycle.</u>

The 2d DCA described the citrus nursery growing cycle as follows:

Each nursery in this case grows containerized product inside greenhouses. This is a relatively new method for starting citrus. It allows the nursery to avoid freeze damage to its stock and to receive the higher prices for its product which typically follow grove-damaging freezes. The containerized citrus is easier to handle and to plant than trees grown outdoors using the more traditional bareroot method.

The nursery begins its assembly line by planting seeds in flats which contain approximately 100 cells. Most of the seeds germinate and produce seedlings. The plants are grown in the seedling stage for three to four months.

After the plants have reached the end of the seedling stage, they are transplanted into four-inch containers. They are grown in these containers for approximately another three to fourmonths. This state of growth is frequently referred to as the liner stage. The liners are grown until the stems are approximately pencil size.

The liners are grown strictly as root stock. The fruit they would bear is unacceptable. As a result, bud stock is removed from trees with desirable fruit. The buds are grafted to the liners to produce budded trees.

The final stage of production involves the budded trees. They are grown in the nursery for another six to nine months. The budded trees can be transplanted to six-inch pots or three-gallon containers. The larger pot allows for a larger tree, a longer shelf life, and a higher price.

The total time to produce a marketable tree varies from ten months to twenty-two months. On the average, it takes approximately sixteen months to produce a marketable budded tree.

Atypicalgreenhouse, likeanyfactory, has a maximum output. Mid-Florida's nursery, for example, starts approximately 35,000 trees every quarter. As a batch of seedlings moves up the production line to become liners, a new batch of seedlings is begun. The total production capacity of the Mid-Florida greenhouse is approximately 140,000 seedlings, liners, and budded trees. The Department destroyed all of the product within the nursery in all three stages of development.

14 F.L.W. at 650-51. [Attached as App. A].

Each of the Nurseries had purchased 6" pots during the summer of 1984 with the intention to use them the following season [T: 226-228, 247-248, 281], thus permitting the nursery stock to be grown to larger size with "a longer shelf life and a higher price." $\frac{1}{}$ Neither had previously used or sold this size pot [T: 228].

B. <u>The Asserted Takings</u>,

As the 2d DCA observed, "this case involves three distinct exercises of the police power," which commenced with

^{1/ 14} F.L.W. at 651. There was testimony that Mid-Florida transferred 12,000 budded trees from 4" to 6" pots in September, 1984 [T: 143]. Since this was just before the eradication at Mid-Florida (early October, 1984), both the trial court and the 2d DCA treated these as still being in 4" pots.

the discovery in September 1984 of a previously unknown strain

of canker in Ward's Citrus Nursery.

First, the Department entered an emergency order in September 1984, which placed a general quarantine upon nursery sales. The quarantine remained in effect until April 1, 1985. The quarantine had a significant impact upon a wide range of citrus nurseries and citrus groves. During the quarantine, citrus nursery stock could not be legally sold in Florida.^{2/}

. . .

Second, the Department entered specific "immediate final orders" designating Mid-Florida and Himrod as "eradication areas." By virtue of these orders, their healthy citrus stock was burned.

. . .

Finally, the Department, in conjunction with the United States Department of Agriculture, conducted a decontamination of the greenhouses after the citrus stock was burned. Although the Department burned the citrus stock in this case by mid-October 1984, the decontamination was not completed until mid-December 1984. Thus, at a minimum, the nursery owners were temporarily shut down for approximately two months after the burning of their healthy stock because of the decontamination action.

Id. at 651. Placing the facts of these cases within the 2d DCA's structure:

². This sentence is incorrect. By its terms, the quarantine did not prohibit sale nor contracts for sale and delivery after the quarantine. These contracts are common in the citrus nursery business and generally involve an agreement by a nursery to grow a certain number and type of citrus plants to a particular stage of maturity, for another nursery or for a grove owner, for delivery at a specified time in the future and for a pre-determined price. [T: 171-74, 196].

First Staae: On September 14, 1984, the USDA imposed a federal quarantine on interstate movement of all citrus material. 49 Fed. Reg. 36,623. On September 19, 1984 the State of Florida followed suit and imposed an emergency quarantine on movement of all citrus material within the state unless accompanied by a permit or certificate issued by the USDA or the Department. Fla. Admin. Code Rule 5B-ER84-8, Part (7)(c). Id. As the 2d DCA observed (Id. at 651), the constitutionality of this quarantine was not raised in this case and has not been passed on in any other case.

Second Staae: Pursuant to USDA and Department citrus canker regulations, Himrod and Mid-Florida were designated "exposed" nurseries in September, 1984, meaning they had been "[s]ubjected to citrus canker infection or infestation because of location or contact with <u>Xanthomonas campestris</u> p.v. <u>citri</u>," Fla. Admin. Code Rule 5B-49.001(7) (1987); [T: 12]. The plants in these nurseries were destroyed between October 7 and October 19, 1984. [T: 248]. The destroyed nursery stock was:

1	Mid-Florida	<u>Himrod</u>
Seedlings Liners Budded Trees in 4" pots Budded Trees in 7 1/2" pots (or	30,000 22,404 45,576	56,800 62,004 24,790
3 gal. containers)	40,000	0
Total Destroyed	137,980	143,594

- 6 -

[T: 145, 146, 282, 286].³/

Third Staae: Once the destruction of these citrus plants was completed, the greenhouses which contained them were required to undergo chemical decontamination to ensure that the canker bacteria had been fully eliminated from a particular site. Anticipating the recurrence of citrus canker in the United States, the USDA in 1982 had drafted a Citrus Canker Disease Action Plan to provide guidelines for the eradication of citrus canker when it reappeared. The 1982 Plan was revised in November 1984 (the "1984 Action Plan"), in order to provide more specific guidelines for the eradication of the canker perceived to exist after its discovery at Ward's and elsewhere in the fall of 1984.4/The 1984 Action Plan details the decontamination procedures applied to both Mid-Florida and Himrod after destruction of their nursery stock. [T: 395-3981. The Action Plan required that the subject greenhouse be cleaned of all debris and plant material and then sprayed with a quaternary ammonium solution. [App. C at p. 11; Defendant's Exhibit 4]. At least 24 hours later, the

а

 $[\]underline{3}$ / The schedule in the 2d DCA opinion (<u>Id</u>. at 651) is in error in that it omits the Mid-Florida three-gallon containers. That error was corrected following motions to clarify.

^{4.} The 1982 and 1984 Action Plans are attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibits B and C. The Action Plans are not part of the record. One of the Action Plans (the 1987 Plan) was appended to Appellee's Cross-Reply Brief to this Court in <u>State, Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services V. Richard</u> <u>O. Polk, d/b/a Richard Polk Nursery</u>, No. 73, 842 (Fla., argued Apr. 5, 1989).

greenhouse would be drenched with a detergent solution. <u>Id</u>. On completion of these procedures, the greenhouse would be released from quarantine and could resume production of citrus. [Def. Ex. 4]; [T: 274, 396, 399, 425].

The process of decontamination was carried out at the Nurseries under the Action Plan and by federal authorities. [T: 277, 399, 425]. Only after the USDA certified the completion of the decontamination process could destroyed nurseries resume production. [T: 274, 396, 399, 424]. The USDA certified Mid-Florida to be decontaminated on December 4, 1984 and certified Himrod to be decontaminated on December 14, 1984. [T: 399]. Thereafter, the Nurseries could have resumed nursery production at any time. [T: 272, 274, 396, 399]. Movement of the product from the Nurseries could have resumed on April 1, 1985. [T: 408].

The impact of the foregoing measures on Mid-Florida was lessened by one event. In September and October 1984, after the citrus canker outbreak at Ward's, Mid-Florida received approval from the USDA and the Department to begin a new greenhouse operation on its property. The new greenhouse was at an approved distance from the exposed greenhouses and was not burned or decontaminated. [T: 191-92].

C. <u>The Market for Nursery Stock.</u>

The position of Mid-Florida and Himrod in this case, accepted by the jury and the 2d DCA, was that they were entitled

- 8 -

е

to receive the market value of the nursery stock destroyed, not as such stock existed and could have been sold at the time of destruction, but as it would have been at the time the Nurseries might have expected to sell it (which could be more than a year later and could not be earlier than April **1985**, six months later). By reason of a "major freeze [which] occurred in January 1985" (14 F.L.W. at 651), the April 1985 prices were approximately 28% higher than August, 1984. While the Department and USDA destroyed seedlings and liners, Mid-Florida and Himrod had never sold seedlings and liners. While the Department and USDA destroyed budded trees in 4" pots and these Nurseries had regularly sold trees in 4" pots [T: 277, 160], this year Himrod had intended all its 4" trees and Mid-Florida had intended more than 1/2 its 4" trees to continue to grow and be sold in 6" pots.5/ The Nurseries successfully argued that no "forced sale" view of inverse condemnation should be imposed on them, but rather they should be permitted to recover on the basis of growing all their destroyed stock

⁶ As noted above, neither Nursery had ever sold nursery stock in 6" pots (nor was there testimony that anyone else in the industry had).

to the point where the Nurseries would have liked to have sold them many months later. $\frac{6}{2}$

6/ The key jury instructions, given over the Department's objections, were:

Youshoulddetermine full compensation of the Plaintiffs' destroyed nursery stock as of October 7, 1984, which is considered the date of taking. However, as further explained before, you need not determine market value as of this specific date if you find that the market for such nursery stock was non-existent <u>or if the Plaintiffs</u> would normally be expected to market their <u>stock at a later time, in which events</u> YOU may determine the market price at the time they reasonably planned to market or would have been able to market their stock.

[T: 609-10, emphasis added]. Under this instruction the jury could apply the April 1985 market even if a market existed in October 1984.

Fair market value is the price that property would bring under normal market conditions. You should therefore exclude from consideration any condition of market short-term or temporary depression.

IndeterminingthevalueofPlaintiffs' immature citrus nursery stock intended to be sold or used for commercial purposes, you may consider the value of such stock assuming it were brought to maturity and then sold. That is, you may consider the market value which Plaintiffs' immature seedlings and liners or young budded trees would have had as mature budded trees if they had not been destroyed.

Alternatively, if you find that in spite of the destruction any of the immature stock referred to in this case had a market value at the time of destruction, then you may consider that value in determining full compensation.

[T: 611-12].

1. <u>The actual market.</u>

a. <u>Seedlings and Liners.</u>

As the 2d DCA observed: "Prior to the quarantine, there is evidence that a market existed for **seedlings."** In this case, the Department offered "no evidence that a market existed for liners in the fall of **1984."**⁷/

Despite its determination that there was evidence that a market for seedlings existed prior to the quarantine, the 2d DCA concluded:

> there was no legal market in October 1984 for the Nurseries' seedlings, liners, or budded trees. Thus, the Department's analysis is based upon a hypothetical market in October 1984, with prices derived from the earlier fall market.

14 F.L.W. at 651.

The first quoted sentence is inaccurate. The general manager of Mid-Florida, testified that some of the nurseries could sell during the quarantine and that he got some plants from another nursery and sold them. [T: 156-57]. Additionally, another nursery owner testified that in October of 1984, plants similar in size to 6" potted plants were selling for approximately \$4.90, while those in 3-gallon containers sold for

^{7. 14} F.L.W. at 651. The 2d DCA entered its certification order "[b]ecause the issues resolved in this appeal will undoubtedly affect other nursery owners Id. at 654. The Department therefore advises the Court that in many of these cases it expects to introduce evidence that a market for liners existed at the time of the nursery stock destruction in those cases.

\$6.75. [T: 266]. Moreover, reference to the 1984 Action Plan and the Department's Emergency Rules shows some movement of citrus plants between citrus nurseries was allowed, though subject to regulation. [App. C at p. R-21], <u>see</u> Fla. Admin. Code Rule **5B-ER84-8**; Fla. Admin. Code Rule **5B-ER84-9**. As the jury instruction quoted in footnote **6** shows, the jury need not have concluded that no market existed in October **1984** to award damages based on an April **1985** market (note disjunctive wording).

The August 1984 market price for seedlings was \$150 to \$200 per thousand. [T: 456-458, 476-4781. There is no testimony in the record as to the April 1985 market price for seedlings.

b. <u>Budded Trees.</u>

The budded trees destroyed were all in 4" pots. The market price for such stock in August 1984, pre-quarantine, was \$3.50. [T: 170, 172, 249]. In April 1985, as the result of the January 1985 freeze the price of such stock had increased to \$4.50. [T: 156, 158, 285].

There was no trial testimony as to the market price of budded trees in 6" pots in August 1984. The Nurseries' owners both testified that, in their opinion, they could have gotten \$6.50 for this stock in April 1985. [T: 156, 285].

The price of stock in 7 1/2" pots (three-gallon

- 12 -

containers) in August 1984, pre-quarantine, was \$6.75. The price in April 1985 was \$7.50 [T:156].

2. The methodology for calculation of damases.

There were two essential ingredients to the jury's damages methodology: (i) the "forced sale" concept of inverse condemnation would not be imposed on the Nurseries, so they would not be required to sell seedlings, liners, or budded trees as they were in October 1984 but instead would be presumed to have sold the plants as planned by the Nurseries, many months later, and (ii) the market to be used was the freeze-inflated April 1985 market, not the August, 1984 pre-quarantine market or the market which, on the date of taking, one would have <u>expected</u> in April 1985. The 2d DCA made observations as to both these ingredients:

If the nursery owners' product had not been destroyed in October 1984, it would have continued to grow during the quarantine. Thus, they [Mid-Florida and Himrod] theorize that the seedlings and liners could have been sold as budded trees between April 1985 and April 1986. Additionally, the nursery growers hypothetically transplanted some of their trees from four-inch containers to sixinch, orthree-gallon containers to receive longer shelf life and a higher price.

. . . .

The nursery owners' theory of damage allows them to receive the benefit of the January freeze which they could not have predicted in October. **14** F.L.W. at **651** (emphasis added). Nevertheless, the 2d DCA accepted both ingredients and the jury's decision.

The August, 1984 market prices were essentially the same as those in effect for the previous nine months [Pl. Exh. 2]. The 2d DCA observed: "Because of a freeze in December 1983, the price of budded trees had gradually increased during 1984." 14 F.L.W. at 651. As the graph in Pl. Exh. 2 shows, the price level was virtually static during these nine months (so the increase referred to by the 2d DCA was very gradual). The "second major freeze" of January 1985 created "an immediate increase in the demand for young trees . . . [and the resultant approximately 28%] increase in market price lasted for approximately one year." Id.

3. The amount of damages.

a. <u>Damases before deduction of expenses</u>.

Based on the foregoing calculation, the Nurseries asked the jury to conclude that their damages before deduction of certain expenses should be:

Mid-Florida

<u>Type of Plant</u>	Number Burned	Market Price <u>April 1985</u>
Seedling	30,000	as 4" budded @4.50 = \$135,000
Liners	22,404	as 4" budded @4.50 = \$100,818
4" Budded	45,576	20,576 trees @4.50 = \$92,592
6" Budded		25,000 trees @6.50 = \$162,500
7.5" Budded (3 gallon)	40,000	40,000 trees @7.50 = \$300,000
	<u>Himrod</u>	
Seedling	56,800	as 4" budded @4.50 = \$252,000
Liners	62,004	as 4" budded @4.50 = \$279,018
4" Budded	24,790	as 6" budded @6.50 = \$161,135

b. <u>Deduction of Expenses</u>.

After establishing the purported value of the nursery stock in this future market, the Nurseries' expert, an economist, subtracted from the purported value in April 1985 certain expenses the Nurseries would have incurred had the stock not been destroyed in October 1984 but instead grown until April 1985. [T: 303-3091. Although some of these costs were identified,⁸/ neither the expert's testimony nor the

8/ The identified costs were:

(continued...)

- 15 -

exhibits to which he referred [Pl, Exh. 1 and 3] identify the remaining costs he subtracted. The total cost subtracted amounted to \$51,448 for Mid-Florida and \$93,605 for Himrod [Pl. Exh. 1 and 3].

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