IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOR

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES,

Petitioner,

v.

MID-FLORIDA GROWERS, INC., and HIMROD & HIMROD CITRUS NURSERY, a Partnership composed of Joe Himrod and Joe B. Himrod,

Respondents.

JUN 16 1939

SHE & FRANTE

 $\mathcal{O}$ 

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT D
By CASE NO.	Deputy Olaris	pr
	,	

DCA CASE NO. 88-01369

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

M. STEPHEN TURNER DAVID K. MILLER BROAD & CASSEL 820 East Park Ave. Building F P.O. Drawer 11300 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 681-6810

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

# TABI OF CONTENTS

# <u>Pase</u>

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

The Department presented various approaches to value the immature growing stock. The jury had good reason to reject these approaches as inadequate to compensate full value in the circumstances. The Nurseries' whole operation is geared to the sale of mature budded trees. If only cash costs incurred up to the moment of destruction were reimbursed, as the Department

suggested, fixed expenses allocable to the destroyed stock, as well as a commensurate profit determined by the actual market, would not be returned as part of value. Competitors whose trees were spared realized these amounts.

The jury also rejected the Department's approach to use August 1984 (prequarantine) market prices to value the mature stock. The Nurseries' expert testified that the earlier market had passed and would not reflect economic reality. Even the Department's expert agreed that the stock was worth what could be realized if it survived the quarantine. Probable net yield would not result in a windfall since the Nurseries planned to sell most of their mature trees into the spring market anyway.

Many of the issues raised in the Department's Brief, such as the wording of jury instructions, were never raised below and may not be injected here. In any event, the jury was correctly told that it should consider market value on the date of taking, if possible, as well as alternative approaches to value. The Department did not request a special verdict and must accept the supported general verdict on valuation.

### 11. LOST PRODUCTION/TEMPORARY TAKING

This Department's use prohibition implemented and fulfilled its policy of destroying existing stock due to suspected canker. Since the destruction was not justified, neither was the use prohibition. The use prohibition was a separate action incident to a foundation taking; the resultant loss is part of the taking and is compensable in proceedings related to the taking.

In the alternative, as the Second District ruled, the Nurseries should be allowed to establish a temporary regulatory taking consistent with the holding of <u>First English</u>. The length of the deprivation, the lack of justification, and the extent of the loss are sufficient to establish a taking on remand.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. VALUATION OF DESTROYED STOCK

Α. CIRCUIT AND DISTRICT COURTS THE CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE JURY COULD PROBABLE CONSIDER NET YIELD AS PROBATIVE OF THE ACTUAL REALIZABLE VALUE OF GROWING STOCK FOR WHICH NO MARKET EXISTED THE ON DATE OF TAKING.

The objective of the constitutional guarantee of full compensation is to compensate the owner for what he has lost. <u>City of Jacksonville v. Henry G. DuPree Co.</u>, 108 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1959). The probable net yield approach measures this loss precisely, by the actual net revenue the owners would have received if their property had not been taken.

The probable net yield approach is particularly compelling where no market exists for the property on the date of taking. The property taken included immature plants, which were not ready to market and would not be marketed before maturity. Furthermore, the prior market for mature budded trees (and seedlings for nurseries that sold them) was suspended by the Department's quarantine. Under these unusual circumstances, none of the stock could be bought or sold on the date of taking, and

the market before and after the quarantine should be considered. The Nurseries had no choice but to hold their stock for sale in the next available market. The probable net yield approach, based on the only real choice available to them, is a rational, fair and realistic method to measure the stock's actual worth.

In order to make the owner whole, juries are allowed to consider all facts and circumstances relating to the loss occasioned by the taking. <u>Behm v. Div. of Administration</u>, 383 So.2d 216, 218 (Fla. 1983), quoting <u>City of Jacksonville v. Henry</u> <u>G. DuPree Co.</u>, 108 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1959); <u>Swift & Co. v. Housing</u> <u>Auth.</u>, 106 So.2d 616 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958).

The owner of property taken is allowed to testify concerning value. <u>Hill v. Marion County</u>, 238 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1st GCA 1970). Expert testimony concerning value is admissible in condemnation proceedings unless the method used is totally inadequate and unauthenticated. <u>Rochelle v. State Road Dept</u>, 196 So.2d 477 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967).

Valuation on the date of taking must consider the property's likely adapted, highest and most profitable use. <u>See, e.g.,</u> <u>Swift & Co. v. Housing Authority</u>, above; <u>Division of Bond Finance</u> <u>v. Rainey</u>, 275 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973) (jury may consider effects of foreseeable rezoning on value of realty); <u>Casev v.</u> <u>Florida Power Corp.</u>, 157 So.2d 168 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963) (all uses to which property adaptable may be considered).

Proper valuation for any given case is inextricably bound up with the particular circumstances of the case. <u>Dade County v.</u> <u>General Waterworks Corp.</u>, **267** So.2d **633**, **639** (Fla. **1972**). The Court there noted that all valuation methods, including fair market value, are merely tools to achieve full compensation, and may be used or rejected in particular cases. <u>Id</u>. at 641.

Even if market value exists on the date of taking, it is only a tool to be used to determine full compensation; it is not the exclusive standard. <u>Florida Eminent Domain Practice and</u> <u>Proc.</u>, Section 11.5 (4th Ed. 1988) (citing cases). The jury in this case was properly allowed to consider all evidence, and chose the approach that, in its opinion, most fairly compensated value taken.

The probable net yield approach is <u>universally</u> accepted in condemnation, contract and tort cases to determine the value of growing plants. <u>See esp</u>. <u>Lee County v. T & H Associates, Inc.</u>, **395 So.2d 557** (Fla. 2d DCA **1981)**, in which the court described this approach as **"at** least as probative" as alternative evidence to value growing stock. <u>Id</u>. at 560. The condemnor, like the Department here, objected to consideration of weather and market conditions occurring after the taking which would have increased the actual revenue from the plants in question. The Court rejected this argument, however, because the retrospective evidence of value that would have been received was the **"best** possible evidence available" and the "most reliable evidence **available."** Id. at **561**.

This Court, in <u>Corneal v. State Plant Board</u>, 95 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1957), and again in <u>State Plant Board v. Smith</u>, 110 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1959), required that evidence of net revenue be considered in valuing the plants taken. The Court ruled that the owner's loss of profit must be compensated as "a plain dictate of justice and of the principle of equality." <u>Corneal</u>, above, at 6-7; <u>Smith</u>, above, at 403. <u>Smith</u> and <u>Corneal</u> leave no room for the Department's argument that the profits the owner would have received from the market cannot be considered in compensation.

Lee County, Corneal, and Smith did not involve a regulatory quarantine that suspended the market on the taking date. These decisions recognize that, even in a normal market, growing stock can be valued based on its probable net yield. In this case, the regulatory quarantine makes probable net yield evidence even more appropriate to value immature stock, as well as mature stock which could not lawfully be sold on the date of taking and had to be held to the next available market.

The Nurseries presented an Amicus Brief in the pending case <u>Dept. of Agriculture and Consumer Services v. Polk</u>, Case No. 73,842.<sup>3</sup> That Brief cites numerous authorities from Florida, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Polk</u> differs from this case in two respects. First, there was evidence of some disease at the Polk nursery, although the disease was found to be harmless. There was no disease found at the instant Nurseries. No question was raised as to any fear evidence regarding Respondents' stock. Indeed Respondents presented affirmative evidence that their trees would have been purchased when the market reopened. (T: 242) Second, the quarantine imposed by the Department from September 1984 to April 1985 makes market evidence on the taking date unavailable in this case. No such quarantine appears **to** have been present when Polk's plants were destroyed in September 1985.

well as other jurisdictions, discussing the use of probable net yield evidence in valuing growing plants in condemnation, contract and tort cases. (A: 21) Every case cited upholds the admissibility of probable net yield evidence, even in a normal (unquarantined) market, to value growing stock. The Department has had the benefit of these citations in preparing its Brief in this case, and yet has not offered a single authority where the probable net yield approach was held inadmissible.

The Department relies on a general rule in federal condemnation practice that fair market value should be used unless too difficult to find or resulting in manifest injustice. But this rule does not preclude the use of probable net yield evidence for growing plants in the circumstances presented here. Probable yield measures true market value. Federal courts use this approach. See United States v. 576.734 Acres, 143 F.2d 408 (3d Cir, 1944), cert. denied, 323 U.S. 716 (1944); Dailey v. United States, 90 F. Supp. 699 (Ct.Cl, 1950), United States v. 729.773 Acres, 531 F.Supp, 967 (D.Haw, 1982). In United States v. 131.68 Acres, 695 F.2d 872 (5th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 817 (1983), the court upheld an award to lessees for their growing sugar cane crop, valued based on probable net revenue from the first harvest. The trial court also properly considered the lessees' evidence showing the probable net yield from the second and third years of the sugar cane growing cycle, but held it duplicated the fee owners' claim.

The Department's approaches to value, based on assumptions that a hypothetical market existed on the taking date, are subject to serious flaws. First, the use of a variable cost plus percentage markup would not compensate the Nurseries for their fixed and unavoidable costs. Respondents sold only mature budded trees. Their investment and attendant costs were geared to production of this final product. By analogy, one might as well confiscate a winemaker's choicest product in the early stage of production and offer the market price for wine vinegar as compensation. Second, the Nurseries would have sold into the spring market anyway, and should have the benefit of a rising market to compensate them for the risk (and loss) of a declining market in other years. The variable cost plus percentage markup approach falls short of compensating the Nurseries for what they actually lost,  $\underline{i.e.}$ , the actual net revenue they would have Probable net yield is the fairest approach to received. compensation.

Probable net yield should also be considered to value mature stock in a quarantined market. In a normal market, the market value of mature plants ready for market equals the probable yield, <u>i.e.</u>, the revenue from sale in that market. If the market is suspended due to quarantine, then the market price in the next available market (if the plants can be held) is a fair indicator of value. None of the Department's cases considers the effect of a suspended market. A hypothetical willing buyer/willing seller

model cannot be the only approach to value when sales cannot even take place.

Where abnormal market conditions exist, other approaches must be considered. As stated in <u>Florida Eminent Domain</u> <u>Practice and Procedure</u>, supra, Section 9.37: "Presumably an owner would not offer his property for sale during a period of temporary depression but would hold it until the market recovers." The special or inherent value of the condemned property should be considered. See 4 <u>Nichols on Eminent Domain</u> Section 12.32[2], p. 12-551 (3rd Ed. 1977). Also see <u>Sinclair</u> <u>Refining Co. v. Jenkins Petroleum Co.</u>, 298 U.S. 689, 699, 53 **S.** Ct. 736, 739 (1938): "The market test failing, there must be reference to the values inherent in the thing itself, whether for use or exchange."

Certainly in the absence of any market, probable net yield is as reasonable as the Department's speculation about a hypothetical sales price. No case cited by the Department holds otherwise.

The Department pronounces (Brief at 38) that Respondents should be limited to August 1984 prequarantine prices because their stock was considered suspect. The Department neither presented nor proffered any so-called fear evidence in this case. On the other hand, the Nurseries presented disinterested competent testimony (and more witnesses were lined up for rebuttal if necessary) that their stock would have been purchased at spring 1985 market prices when the quarantine was

lifted. (T: 242) By the time the market reopened, Respondents' surviving stock would have been demonstrably healthy.

Assuming a market existed for Respondents' stock during the quarantine (as the Department speculates), and assuming such market was temporarily distorted by the Department's actions (as it pronounces), then probable net yield best eliminates that temporary distortion and restores actual value. The temporary absence of a normal market for Respondents' stigmatized stock is all the more reason why probable net yield based on the next available normal market should be considered.

The Department suggests that use of spring 1985 prices departs from valuation on the date of taking, and draws an analogy to contract law which measures damages on the date of breach. Again, probable net yield and use of the first available market are consistent with this principle. Florida courts have long recognized in contract cases that loss with respect to growing plants can be measured by probable net yield. <u>Twyman v.</u> <u>Roell</u>, 123 Fla. 2, 166 So. 215 (Fla. 1936); <u>R.A. Jones & Sons,</u> <u>Inc. v. Holman</u>, 470 So.2d 60, 70-71 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), <u>rev.</u> <u>dism.</u>, 482 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1986). Other jurisdictions hold likewise. See <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Frankfort Oil Co. v. Abrams</u>, 413 P.2d 190, 199 (Colo. 1966) (on breach of mineral lease, value of immature hay crop may be measured by probable net yield or other methods).

Lake Region Paradise Island, Inc. v. Graviss, 335 So.2d 341 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), cited by the Department, involves an entirely different valuation issue. The holder of an option to buy an

equity interest in a business was not allowed to value that interest as of the date of trial. The value of the business on the trial date would be due to the owner's efforts after breach, and could not represent the lost benefit of the bargain. By contrast, the Nurseries do not seek to value their stock as of the date of trial. They ask only for the benefit they would have had through their own efforts as measured by the first available market, not the date of trial.

The Department speculates that under the jury instructions, probable net yield may have been used to value stock for which a market may have existed. This contention presumes that some market existed during the quarantine contrary to the undisputed evidence. The Circuit Court instructed the jury to consider market value on the date of taking, if possible. (A: 11). The first part of the next instruction applies to all stock, and the second part applies to <u>immature</u> stock that normally would be marketed in **1985.**<sup>4</sup> The Court expressly refers to subsequent instructions concerning valuation of immature stock which clarify this instruction. One of the subsequent instructions was the Department's own request that the jury could consider the market value of any immature stock that had a market value at the time of destruction. These instructions must be considered together rather than in isolation. <u>Gaston v. Sevor</u>, 156 Fla. 157, 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court eliminated the phrase "or if the stock was immature at the time" because the subsequent instructions made this limitation clear. (T: 544-49) No objection was made to the amended language.

so.2d 156 (1945).

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